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          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Welcome to

          3  today's Finance Committee hearing. My name is David

          4  Weprin. I chair the Committee.

          5                 Today we have several items on our

          6  agenda, legislation relating to the submission of

          7  the Executive Budget dates and Expense Budget

          8  modification, MN 5, and a Revenue Budget

          9  modification, MN 6.

         10                 The first piece of legislation is an

         11  item we sometimes consider at the start of the

         12  Executive Budget cycle, and extends the dates

         13  related to the Fiscal 2007 Executive Budget process,

         14  including the date by which the Mayor must submit

         15  the proposed Executive Budget, and the date by which

         16  the Council must conclude its hearings on the

         17  Executive Budget.

         18                 Specifically, this legislation gives

         19  the Mayor and Council additional days for these

         20  Charter proscribed actions. The Mayor would have

         21  until May 4th to submit the budget, the Council

         22  would have until June 9th to conclude the hearings

         23  and the target adoption date would be extended til

         24  June 13th.

         25                 Finally, this legislation would
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          2  extend the other Charter dates relating to Executive

          3  Budget actions taken by other officials, such as the

          4  Independent Budget Office and the Borough

          5  Presidents.

          6                 This Committee will also be

          7  considering a revenue budget modification, MN 6, for

          8  Fiscal Year '06, that will recognize a net increase

          9  to revenues of approximately $1.2 billion.

         10                 This amount includes an additional

         11  942 million in tax revenues, as a result of a

         12  combination of strong collections of real estate

         13  taxes, as well as personal income and business tax

         14  collections, and an increase of 268 million in

         15  non-tax revenues.

         16                 This increase is due to restructuring

         17  outstanding TASAC (phonetic), and associated tobacco

         18  settlement revenue, delaying the sale of taxi

         19  medallions, Medicaid restructuring and write down of

         20  prior year's payables.

         21                 This revenue mod will appropriate

         22  approximately 1.29 billion to the Fiscal Year '06

         23  budget stabilization account to be used to reduce

         24  the Fiscal Year '07 budget gap, and reduce medical

         25  assistance in the Department of Social Services by
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          2  8.9 million.

          3                 Finally, the Committee will be

          4  considering the expense modification, MN 5. This

          5  budget modification does not contain the cuts to

          6  senior programs and youth services originally

          7  proposed.

          8                 In addition, the libraries and

          9  culturals have been held harmless. The cuts

         10  originally proposed have been made up for.

         11                 This is the beginning of the end of

         12  the budget dance.

         13                 The Expense modification contains an

         14  appropriation of $575 million to the Health and

         15  Hospitals Corporation to access 1.15 billion in

         16  Medicaid payments, two to one ratio, that cover

         17  uninsured patients, an appropriation of 367 million

         18  for collective bargaining to cover contractual costs

         19  for City employees, and 925 million in pension

         20  savings.

         21                 Finally, the Expense modification

         22  appropriates $1 billion to the trust fund to be

         23  established for retiree health benefits.

         24                 This trust fund will be an

         25  irrevocable trust and the money we appropriate can
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          2  only be used to fund health and welfare benefits for

          3  retired City workers.

          4                 New accounting requirements will

          5  require the City to disclose this liability.

          6  Currently the City pays almost $1 billion a year for

          7  these costs. This will allow the City to essentially

          8  save money in good years so that in bad years it

          9  will have the ability to draw down money from this

         10  fund to make these payments.

         11                 In addition to the restorations

         12  detailed above, the Administration has agreed that

         13  now and in the future the Office of Management and

         14  Budget will appear before this Committee and present

         15  its case for and answer questions about its proposed

         16  budget modification.

         17                 We will shortly hear from Mark Page,

         18  the Director of the Office of Management and Budget,

         19  who will provide us with a brief overview of the

         20  budget modifications. I'd like to thank Budget

         21  Director Page for coming before us today. We will

         22  also hear later from Elizabeth Lynam from the

         23  Citizens' Budget Commission to testify as well.

         24                 Let me introduce the members that are

         25  here.
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          2                 We have Council Member Mike McMahon

          3  from Staten Island. Council Member Dennis Gallagher

          4  from Queens. Council Member Gale Brewer from

          5  Manhattan. Council Member Diana Reyna from Brooklyn

          6  and Queens. Our Deputy Majority Leader Leroy Comrie

          7  from Queens. Councilman Albert Vann from Brooklyn.

          8  And Council Member Helen Sears from Queens.

          9                 I apologize that we lost the media,

         10  but maybe that's good.

         11                 Director Page, if you could step

         12  forward, please.

         13                 I also want to state for the record

         14  that Councilman Alan Gerson would be here, except

         15  he's ill with the flu, and we wish him a speedy

         16  recovery.

         17                 And we've been joined by Councilman

         18  Lew Fidler from Brooklyn.

         19                 Mr. Page, the floor is yours.

         20                 MR. PAGE: Good afternoon.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: And Mr. Klein.

         22                 MR. PAGE: As you've noted -- I'm

         23  sorry, do you want me to speak to the modification?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes, if you could

         25  address the budget modification.
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          2                 MR. PAGE: Okay.

          3                 As you've noted in your introduction,

          4  the modification has a number of items in it. It's

          5  basically bringing the budget up to date with the

          6  current fiscal year status as of the financial

          7  modification, financial plan modification that the

          8  Mayor prepares in connection with the Preliminary

          9  Budget in January.

         10                 In addition, the modification

         11  provides for the necessary City funding to enable

         12  HHC to make an additional Medicaid claim from the

         13  federal government. The City funding is $575 million

         14  being provided in this mod, and it leverages an

         15  equal amount of federal funding, which will be

         16  available to HHC.

         17                 The modification moves collective

         18  bargaining money reserved centrally into agencies

         19  where it's paid out in increased salaries that

         20  collective bargaining agreements have provided for

         21  for the City's workforce. It appropriates a billion

         22  dollars toward the retirement health benefit trust,

         23  as a payment forward on a substantial liability that

         24  the City Comptroller is working to quantify.

         25                 It's estimated at substantially more
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          2  than $20 billion, I guess officially. Other

          3  estimates have covered around $50 billion, as the

          4  ultimate liability of New York City for this cost.

          5                 The modification includes a number of

          6  expenditure adjustments, among them providing forms

          7  for the City Clerk's Office to enable them to carry

          8  out compliance with lobbying laws, and a number of

          9  adjustments requested by this body.

         10                 I would be happy to do my best with

         11  Mr. Klein, who is with me, to respond to your

         12  questions on the modification.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, I know a

         14  number of my colleagues have some questions, so I'll

         15  reserve the right to ask some questions since the

         16  hour is late. But I will come back probably to cover

         17  some areas.

         18                 Council Member Comrie.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Thank you, Mr.

         20  Chair.

         21                 Good afternoon, Deputy Mayor Page

         22  (sic).

         23                 Question, just some general

         24  questions. On the Board of Elections, with the HAVA

         25  need that they have, I only see a small increase
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          2  here in their budget. How is that impacting with the

          3  needs for their HAVA implementation?

          4                 MR. PAGE: I think that, I believe

          5  that they're funded for this year, basically, in

          6  terms of what they can spend this year.

          7                 This is the election machines issue

          8  that you're talking about?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Right. And

         10  everything they need to gear up to get to the point

         11  where they need to -- as you may know, the HAVA is

         12  to ensure that we --

         13                 MR. PAGE: I think the difficulty with

         14  HAVA basically is that the State has been so slow in

         15  determining the specifications for the machines that

         16  we have no way of spending the money constructively

         17  this year. I would expect that in Exec, when we are

         18  looking to update the spending needs for '07, there

         19  will be more money for HAVA compliance in '07.

         20                 It's my understanding that there's a

         21  major looming problem here, quite honestly, in the

         22  City of New York being able to comply with those

         23  requirements in a timely fashion, and not

         24  particularly because we haven't been trying, because

         25  of the slowness of the State on this issue.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay.

          3                 But also, the Board of Elections

          4  needs to upgrade their personnel, and salaries, and

          5  hire or retrain their people to deal with whatever

          6  the types of machines are. Do you know when you

          7  expect to do a mod on them later this year so they

          8  can accommodate those needs? I mean, which ever way

          9  they go, the paper, the optical, whatever machine

         10  they decide to use requires a major upgrade in the

         11  ability of their personnel to utilize, maintain,

         12  operate and probably calibrate those machines.

         13                 MR. PAGE: I'm not aware that they're

         14  asking us for more money than we've provided in this

         15  year, which is ending June 30. The modification that

         16  we're talking about is just for that period.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Right.

         18                 MR. PAGE: But certainly those funding

         19  issues is something that we're going to need to

         20  address for the year beginning July 1st, which would

         21  be the, proposed in January, but, you know, other

         22  events intervene.

         23                 I think that we're expecting the

         24  report from the Council later this week, and the

         25  Mayor's Executive Budget in I guess three or four
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          2  weeks from now.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. Just to

          4  change the -- the money for the Borough Presidents,

          5  is this the restoration of their initial budget

          6  after you did an interim peg also, the monies that

          7  have been indicated here for the Borough President

          8  of Manhattan to Staten Island?

          9                 MR. PAGE: I think that those had to

         10  do with not just -- at least for Manhattan, I think

         11  it was not just a question of relieving them from

         12  the peg, but also dealing with the problems of

         13  transition, and lump sum payments, as staff turns

         14  over.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay.

         16                 MR. PAGE: The terminal leave payments

         17  for Manhattan were 240,000. Collective bargaining

         18  was 61,000. And then there was, I don't know, heat,

         19  light and power for 14.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: So, it wasn't

         21  a restoration of a peg, it was just dealing with

         22  technicalities.

         23                 MR. PAGE: Yes, basically. I think the

         24  other Borough Presidents were collective bargaining.

         25  And that's a part of what I was talking about in
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          2  terms of moving money from central collective

          3  bargaining reserve into agencies that are actually

          4  paying higher salaries.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay.

          6                 And I guess that would go for the

          7  District Attorneys also? That's a concern that

          8  they've been extending to us about the needs for

          9  their budget.

         10                 MR. PAGE: Again, there's collective

         11  bargaining and heat, light and power going in there.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. All

         13  right, thank you.

         14                 And the problem of Small Business

         15  Services, the increase for them is to allow them to

         16  ramp up to deal with their new legislative duties

         17  regarding the MWBE or is that a different increase?

         18                 MR. PAGE: I know that that was an

         19  increase that we were funding.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay, so this

         21  is just capacity building for this particular year.

         22  It only says $15,000 though.

         23                 MR. PAGE: The MWBE I think is 17 and

         24  a half; Labor Services, they got 32,000; 3-1-1 for

         25  businesses, they got 71,000; Film Office, 26, and
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          2  Collective Bargaining increases, 127 basically.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. The Film

          4  Office, okay.

          5                 The Film Office, are you intimating

          6  that the ten percent, or it was five percent that we

          7  did for tax abatement for the film industry, has

          8  that issue been resolved, as far as the money from

          9  the City side, to ensure that we can continue, the

         10  film industry is continued?

         11                 MR. PAGE: This is the provision that

         12  the State has just passed for additional support of

         13  the film industry. This does not fund that. I

         14  believe that's a future enterprise, you know,

         15  subject to discussion between us.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. But I

         17  understand that we ran out of money on our side also

         18  for that tax rebate for the film industry.

         19                 MR. PAGE: I think that they burned

         20  through their allowance for the next several years

         21  very quickly.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: The next

         23  several years.

         24                 MR. PAGE: The allowance was supposed

         25  to cover several years. I think that they burned
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          2  through it faster than that.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. And

          4  we're trying to negotiate that between now and the

          5  Executive Budget, or is that something --

          6                 MR. PAGE: I don't know how far we'll

          7  get between now and Exec, but I imagine it's

          8  something that we're certainly going to be talking

          9  about between now and budget adoption.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. I just

         11  want to encourage that we try to figure out a way to

         12  continue that since it has stimulated that economy,

         13  and that's one of the few sectors of our economy

         14  that we need to encourage and nurture. As you know,

         15  we need to make sure that we continue to have

         16  revenue generated in the City, and that has been an

         17  effective one.

         18                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you,

         20  Councilman.

         21                 Councilman Fidler.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Thank you, Mr.

         23  Chairman.

         24                 Good afternoon, Mr. Page, Mr. Klein.

         25  I was actually hoping you'd bring Ms. Angelo with
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          2  you today.

          3                 MR. PAGE: She started this morning.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: That's why I

          5  was hoping you'd bring her with you.

          6                 And actually, I do want to begin by

          7  saying I'm very, very pleased that you are here to

          8  present the Mayor's budget modification. I want to

          9  commend the Chairman of the Finance Committee for

         10  arranging that because in the past, as you know,

         11  we've presented your budget modifications with our

         12  staff, and I think it is appropriate that you be

         13  here to answer these questions.

         14                 I hope this is not the last time that

         15  we have this experience.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I think we have

         17  an agreement for future budget modifications, as

         18  well; is that true, Mr. Page?

         19                 MR. PAGE: You have to let me out

         20  alive each time, though.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I'm sorry, what?

         22                 MR. PAGE: You have to let me out

         23  alive each time, if you expect to repeat.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: We have security

         25  in the back.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Well, you have

          3  Stu here to protect you, so...

          4                 I want to ask questions about the

          5  Health Care Trust Fund, because obviously that's the

          6  biggest ticket in the budget mod. It's all the other

          7  changes by and large are collective bargaining and

          8  heat, light and power, and things like that, with a

          9  few exceptions.

         10                 I understand the Comptroller of the

         11  City of New York has had a number of issues with how

         12  the trust is being set up. I know the Council

         13  Finance has raised some of those as well.

         14                 Where are we now in terms of that?

         15  Has the Comptroller withdrawn all his objections?

         16                 MR. PAGE: I don't believe that the

         17  Comptroller has further technical issues with it

         18  that we have not addressed.

         19                 He has met with representatives of

         20  the Law Department, us, we've had it looked at by

         21  outside legal counsel who are expert in terms of tax

         22  treatment of this kind of fund, and I believe that

         23  we have addressed the technical concerns that he has

         24  raised on this.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: So, if I'm
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          2  understanding Mark Pageism, the Comptroller is not

          3  happy, but you've answered his questions?

          4                 MR. PAGE: I think that there is a --

          5  the Comptroller is not happy that as it stands he's

          6  not the trustee of the fund.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEWIS: And why isn't

          8  he the trustee of the fund?

          9                 MR. PAGE: Because unlike the pension

         10  systems where there is sort of an elaborate legal

         11  structure and legal mandate for payments and for

         12  funding and for fully funding the obligation in t he

         13  assets of the fund, and a lot of fiduciary issues,

         14  and actuaries and so forth, here there is no

         15  statutory requirement for us to establish or fund

         16  this particular account.

         17                 There is a looming need for a lot of

         18  resources for this purpose, but we propose to

         19  establish this as a legal trust to hire a bank as

         20  the trustee which will be responsible for holding

         21  the money appropriated through the budget process

         22  here, that given to them they're authorized to

         23  utilize the money only to pay for retirement health

         24  benefits, and they'll be instructed as to what

         25  payments are owing in the same way that the City
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          2  treasury is now instructed, which is basically a

          3  tape from OLR that lines up the amounts owing to

          4  whom, pursuant to the various collective bargaining

          5  agreements that dictate this. I believe the tape

          6  will be going to this bank once a month and the bank

          7  will be cutting the checks and sending them out.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Well, first of

          9  all, if I understood that answer, you were saying

         10  because there is no statutory authority that says he

         11  has to. But it doesn't really say why he's not going

         12  to?

         13                 MR. PAGE: The only management of this

         14  fund is how much money we choose to put in it, in

         15  the budget process in New York City.

         16                 The spending at the moment for these

         17  benefits is about $800 million a year. If we put in

         18  more than that, the balance in the fund goes up. If

         19  we put in less than that, the balance in the fund

         20  goes down.

         21                 But as a practical matter, the trust,

         22  as is to be set up here, is managed by a bank

         23  trustee and the discretionary management here is how

         24  much money we choose to put in or not, and that's

         25  something that's between the Mayor and the Council,
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          2  in terms of New York City's budget process.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: But don't

          4  trustees of funds determine how it's to be invested?

          5  You know, what decisions are made as to how it's

          6  going to go? How it's otherwise managed? Isn't that

          7  the role of the trustee?

          8                 MR. PAGE: What is otherwise managed.

          9  How it's to be invested. In the trust agreement that

         10  sets this up, the City Comptroller will be

         11  authorized to audit the operations of this and

         12  established as the person responsible for managing

         13  the investment of the funds of the trust, the way he

         14  currently by agreement manages the assets of a

         15  number of different things and manages the

         16  investment of New York City money.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I understand

         18  that there is a Delaware trust. Could you --

         19                 MR. PAGE: Yes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: -- Without

         21  absolutely killing us, because as a lawyer I

         22  couldn't sit through this, as a Council member I

         23  have even less taste for it, but nonetheless, it

         24  kind of jumps out, it says "Delaware Trust." You

         25  know, why a Delaware Trust? Why is it being managed
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          2  and subcontracted out of the City of New York, in

          3  some terms that we all could understand.

          4                 MR. PAGE: The essence of this thing

          5  is that you need a box to put the money in that as

          6  an accounting matter will be recognized by the

          7  City's auditors as not the City. Which you pay the

          8  money out of the City into the box, and as you make

          9  the payment that's an expense. You appropriate it,

         10  you pay it, it's an expense, it's in the box. And

         11  then you want a box that can be very exactly

         12  governed in terms of what can be done with the money

         13  that you've put in it, and the trust law as it's

         14  developed in the State of Delaware is, works well to

         15  dictate this kind of enterprise, where you basically

         16  have an account that somebody is responsible to see

         17  can only be spent for an exactly specified purpose.

         18                 Here the exact specified purpose is

         19  for retirement health benefits that would otherwise

         20  be owing by New York City to its X employees.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Well, might we

         22  not ask the Legislature to codify those same rules

         23  for the limited purpose of a trust like this so that

         24  we could do this here in New York, part A?

         25                 And part B is, though it's a Delaware
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          2  Trust, where will the accounts actually reside? When

          3  this billion dollars is appropriated and expended,

          4  will it be in a bank?

          5                 MR. PAGE: Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Or in funds in

          7  the City of New York?

          8                 MR. PAGE: No, it can't be City funds

          9  for this to work. It's a bank.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I didn't say

         11  City funds. Will it be in a bank in the City of New

         12  York?

         13                 MR. PAGE: It will be a bank in

         14  Delaware.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: And so the

         16  answer to part A of that question, why can't we ask

         17  the Legislature to do something that would allow us

         18  not to shift a billion dollars of money to another

         19  state, with just -- I wouldn't think that you'd want

         20  to do that. I mean, you know, I do understand that

         21  Delaware has more favorable laws and whatnot, but

         22  why can't we move with some due deliberate speed to

         23  ask the New York State Legislature to make it

         24  possible for us to keep that billion dollars here?

         25                 MR. PAGE: Well, in terms of whether
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          2  it's deposited in the bank here or a bank in another

          3  State, I believe, you know, it's going to be

          4  invested in the same kinds of securities. It's

          5  probably mostly US Treasury Securities.

          6                 I would imagine it's going to be a

          7  bank that does business in New York State, as well

          8  as in Delaware, as a practical matter. You could, I

          9  guess, ask the State Legislature to set this up

         10  differently.

         11                 The outcome of asking the New York

         12  State Legislature to do something for New York City

         13  is always a little uncertain. And we need this

         14  vehicle on what can be a rather short time frame

         15  with the State of New York. It basically needs to be

         16  available for the end of this fiscal year.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: You know, that

         18  gets me to my last question, and I do support this

         19  concept, and I will support this mod, but why today?

         20  I mean, you know, is there some magic to the

         21  beginning of April as opposed to some time in June

         22  or in May? Why did we need to do this now?

         23                 MR. PAGE: This is a significant part

         24  of the budget plan for Fiscal Year '06, as we put it

         25  together in January. And I think that, you know,
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          2  today's mod is basically bringing the City's

          3  appropriated budgeting condition in line with the

          4  financial plan put forth by the Mayor in January.

          5                 This is the Mayor's plan. It's part

          6  of an overall plan that we hope will be approved

          7  today, and enable us to sort of move forward having

          8  at least pretty much outlined how this year works,

          9  to go ahead to focus on what we're going to do for

         10  next.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: So there's no

         12  particular reason, other than you know, the Mayor

         13  announced that January, and you want to see some

         14  action that we have to do it on April 6th, as

         15  opposed to April 26th or May 10th. I just want to

         16  understand that piece of it.

         17                 MR. PAGE: No. I think that this is a

         18  proposal. If it's going to happen, it needs to be

         19  authorized to happen. If it's not going to happen,

         20  how best to use the resources available to us this

         21  year is something that takes considerable planning,

         22  and on the level of a billion dollars, generally

         23  takes time. And I think that we need sort of closure

         24  on whether this plan is what we're going to do with

         25  it, or if it's not, how else are we going to manage
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          2  the resources that we have available to us this year

          3  in a way that is going to work best for us in the

          4  future?

          5                 I mean, we're certainly not going to

          6  spend all of the resources available in Fiscal '06

          7  in '06 for kind of normal current purposes.

          8                 I mean, part of the issue here is how

          9  you -- how we enable ourselves to move the resources

         10  forward. Roll surplus is another way of looking at

         11  that.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Look, as I

         13  said to you, I am absolutely prepared to vote to

         14  support this today.

         15                 What I would just suggest is you made

         16  the point about the sum of money and time, and you

         17  know, while there's probably enough to go around in

         18  the control of the Council and Administration, the

         19  fact that, you know, to this morning you were

         20  meeting with the Comptroller on technical issues and

         21  a very hyper-technical subject, suggests to me that

         22  there should be a little bit more respect for the

         23  process.

         24                 You know, I think the substance is

         25  good, and I would not sit here for one moment and
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          2  suggest to you that if I had five hearings on this

          3  subject, I would really understand the Delaware

          4  Trust issue, versus some of the other things that

          5  you and Mr. Klein clearly know a whole lot more

          6  about than I do.

          7                 But nonetheless, there is something a

          8  little unseemly about the fact that the Comptroller

          9  is running in and out of meetings with the guys, you

         10  know, up til the last minute and you're testifying,

         11  you know, your view of how this should operate under

         12  the law and the Comptroller of the City of New York

         13  has concerns that may not have been fully vetted.

         14                 So, I hope that as we move forward

         15  and do other things like this, that we try and be a

         16  little bit more respectful of that process, though I

         17  understand the need to move forward with this today.

         18                 MR. PAGE: I would just respond, and I

         19  appreciate the validity of what you're saying, but

         20  you should be aware that the Comptroller has had the

         21  substantive draft of the trust agreement, which is

         22  what puts this together, for I would believe about a

         23  month at this point. And we have made ourselves as

         24  available --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I didn't lay
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          2  it all on you. And I didn't lay it all on the

          3  Comptroller, and I'm not laying it all on us, but

          4  together I think you could do this a better way.

          5                 MR. PAGE: I hear your point.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Mr. Page, during

          7  our conference earlier, it was raised that perhaps

          8  you could get us a memo, not today, and I think

          9  Council Member Koppell raised this issue in

         10  conference, as to the Delaware Trust issue. Is it

         11  possible to get us a written memo?

         12                 MR. PAGE: Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: As to why it's,

         14  you know, in Delaware, and then we can move on.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 Council Member Reyna.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Good afternoon,

         18  Mr. Page.

         19                 I wanted to just ask, concerning DSBS

         20  appropriations here, there's an MWBE line item. I

         21  apologize. Additional money is being appropriated.

         22                 MR. PAGE: Is this 17,500?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: No, this is

         24  2,000 I only see here, under DSBS. What's the

         25  17,000. Oh, I'm sorry, are you referring to the
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          2  first one? So, there's two different lines here. So,

          3  there's an increase 15,500 and there's another

          4  increase for 2,000. Is this capacity building to

          5  hire individuals?

          6                 MR. PAGE: I don't have a line that

          7  has $2,000 on it in the paper in front of me at this

          8  moment. I'd be happy to talk to you about it

          9  further.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, Council

         11  Member Brewer.

         12                 Oh, I'm sorry, Council Member Reyna.

         13                 MR. PAGE: I think what I'm told is

         14  it's the 17 that is being appropriated in Personal

         15  Services and Other Than Personal Services, so it's

         16  split between two units of appropriation.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And this is

         18  just to gear them up for this year.

         19                 MR. PAGE: Yes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: But there is

         21  money, additional funding increase for new positions

         22  to ramp up the unit for the compliance of the law

         23  for '07.

         24                 MR. PAGE: Yes, I'm not totally

         25  up-to-date as to what's in the Executive Budget at
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          2  this point, because it's not in it, yet.

          3                 But, yes, I think it's consistent

          4  with putting in the money for partial year this year

          5  and the fact that this is a building effort that I

          6  would expect that we'll be following through next

          7  year.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And as far as

          9  HPD is concerned, I'm just wondering, did the

         10  Commissioner communicate to your Department the need

         11  for an increase in the '06 to comply with let's say

         12  rezoning commitments in affordable housing, where

         13  commitments were reflective of '05 AMI?

         14                 MR. PAGE: I don't know the answer to

         15  that question.

         16                 I will ask somebody and get you an

         17  answer to that question.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: I appreciate

         19  that, Mr. Page.

         20                 MR. PAGE: Can you just repeat your

         21  question again.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Absolutely.

         23                 The rezoning from last year, in

         24  particular the Greenpoint Williamsburg rezoning, had

         25  commitments of affordable housing based on May '05
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          2  AMI, which was 62,800. Since then the AMI has risen.

          3  And, so, if there is no increase in subsidy, I'm

          4  assuming we're going to continue committing to

          5  62,800 AMI so that we're able to build the

          6  affordable housing, not based on current AMI.

          7                 And, so, HPD needed to have the

          8  appropriate subsidies in place, because construction

          9  is going to begin with one of many this summer. And

         10  we're voting for that in this fiscal year.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 MR. PAGE: Okay, I hear you and let us

         13  get back, okay?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: So, you call me

         15  if there's further clarification you need.

         16                 MR. PAGE: I appreciate it, yes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Okay.

         18                 MR. PAGE: And you may hear from us.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you,

         21  Council Member.

         22                 Council Member Brewer.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

         24  much. Just following up on Council Member Fidler.

         25  This is a creative way of doing a rainy day fund. I
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          2  think I've never quite understood, although it was

          3  clarified a bit earlier in the democratic caucus,

          4  the fact that I guess we're one of the cities that

          5  can't do our own rainy day fund.

          6                 But can you just explain to me, I

          7  understand the concept of what you're doing, and I

          8  understand the billion now and a billion in FY '07,

          9  but will there also in addition be funding for rainy

         10  day fund? Obviously this will come up in a further

         11  '07 discussion. But this is the rainy day fund that

         12  we can't really have? This is a creative way of

         13  doing it?

         14                 MR. PAGE: Okay.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: They're

         16  laughing at you back her, Mark Page. Go ahead.

         17  Laughing with you.

         18                 MR. PAGE: It's a retirement health

         19  benefits trust fund.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: That I know.

         21                 MR. PAGE: And I can't call it what

         22  you called it, because that's going to blow the

         23  accounting treatment that it relies on, okay?

         24                 The way the thing works is, we spend

         25  about $800 million a year on these benefits, the
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          2  fund is going to be obligated to pay those benefits

          3  for us to the extent it has money.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Got it.

          5                 MR. PAGE: So, our plan at the moment

          6  already funded those benefits this year, so the

          7  billion is extra, so that it goes into the balance

          8  in the fund. And our plan at this moment for '07

          9  also funds, this isn't exactly the right number, but

         10  the $800 million for current cost, and the

         11  additional billion.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Correct.

         13                 MR. PAGE: So when we get done with

         14  '07, there ought to be $2 billion in this fund.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Right.

         16                 MR. PAGE: If we decided to go out of

         17  the retirement health benefit funding business at

         18  the end of '07, if it's $800 million a year, you

         19  have $2 billion in it, you could not appropriate any

         20  money at all theoretically for retirement health

         21  benefits in '08, but they would be paid because the

         22  fund is obliged to pay those benefits to the extent

         23  it has money. So, at the end of '08, you're down to

         24  a balance of a billion-two. And if you still refuse

         25  to be in health benefit current funding business in
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          2  '09, again, the fund would pay. So, you subtract

          3  another 800 from the balance of the fund, and if you

          4  persist in refusing to currently fund retirement

          5  health benefits in ten, it dries up, and then you

          6  have a mess because you're contractually obligated

          7  to make health benefit payments, and I mean between

          8  us we could not appropriate what we owed and see

          9  what happened next. I mean, there's this whole legal

         10  theory about to what extent you're obliged to make

         11  payments that you haven't appropriated.

         12                 On the other hand, if you sign

         13  contracts that said you would, by the time you fight

         14  your way through court, you probably have to make

         15  them. And if there's no more money in the account,

         16  then we better find it somewhere else.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. I

         18  appreciate that explanation. I think as time goes on

         19  we could talk more about that other word that I

         20  used, which I know you couldn't use.

         21                 MR. PAGE: Not in this context.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I understand

         23  that. But just in general it's a question.

         24                 Number two is DoITT. I have great

         25  respect for Ron Bergman, who is the interim
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          2  commissioner, and I know that there's a lot of

          3  interest in making us secure and redundantly secure,

          4  shall we say. So there is money that hasn't been

          5  spent, quite a large amount as you know, and in

          6  addition there is money moving from I think just the

          7  Fire Department, from what I can see from this

          8  particular material, Fire Department is moving over

          9  to DoITT to around 2 to 3 million. So, that would

         10  all be I suppose because they're going to take over

         11  sort of the merging of the Departments for First

         12  Responder.

         13                 My question to you is, because this

         14  has been a very slow process, my question to you is,

         15  is there anything else that's being moved into DoITT

         16  in FY '06 that I might have missed? And second, is

         17  this project going to be on, more on scale or on

         18  time going into the future?

         19                 Because I think some of us thought

         20  last year that this was going to happen.

         21                 MR. PAGE: And by this project you're

         22  basically talking about the consolidation of 9-1-1.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I'm sorry,

         24  yes. Emergency responder consolidation. Yes.

         25                 MR. PAGE: Yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: It's an ECTP

          3  project.

          4                 MR. PAGE: Yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: It has a long

          6  name.

          7                 MR. PAGE: A certain amount of money

          8  and a lot of time and energy has gone into that

          9  project, and is continuing to go into that project,

         10  and the time outlook on when it's actually going to

         11  land, I don't have a decent answer to it.

         12                 The process of integrating the agency

         13  staffs that currently separately do that work is

         14  difficult.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: That's what I

         16  said to the newspaper.

         17                 My question is could we, obviously I

         18  don't want to take up time now, but could we have a

         19  further discussion --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council member,

         21  we're running late.

         22                 MR. PAGE: Yes, I'll be happy to talk

         23  to you.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I understand

         25  that. But it's a lot of money, and I wanted to get

                                                            37

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  it clear.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I understand.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: So I want it

          5  to be on the record that I would like to have

          6  further discussions on this topic.

          7                 MR. PAGE: Right.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

          9  much, Mr. Chairman.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: We still have a

         11  few people on the list.

         12                 Council Member Koppell, Vallone and

         13  Sears are going to get extra credit because they've

         14  waived their questions. Okay, and Council Member

         15  Jackson gets extra credit too. So, I'm just going to

         16  allow for two more questioners, and if you can keep

         17  it short and to the point and try not to cover areas

         18  that we've covered. Council Member McMahon and then

         19  finally, Council Member Oddo for the last question.

         20                 Council Member McMahon.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Thank you,

         22  Mr. Chairman.

         23                 Good afternoon, Mr. Page and Mr.

         24  Klein.

         25                 The money that is being moved into
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          2  the Health and Hospitals Corporation, can you just

          3  give us a quick overview on that?

          4                 MR. PAGE: It's being taken down out

          5  of the budget stabilization fund, which is basically

          6  what would otherwise be the role into '07, and this

          7  is a Medicaid claim that HHC is authorized to put in

          8  with the consent of the State of New York, that

          9  basically derives from its being a public hospital

         10  with a lot of charity care, and the total claim is

         11  for about a billion one-fifty. It's Medicaid which

         12  means that the feds will pay half, but we have to

         13  pay half.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: But it goes

         15  to help the hospitals I guess with their -- part of

         16  it equalizes the difference between Medicaid

         17  payments and Medicare payments --

         18                 MR. PAGE: Yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: --

         20  Reimbursement.

         21                 MR. PAGE: Where the Medicare is

         22  higher, as a public hospital you can up your claim

         23  for reimbursement from the Medicaid rate to the

         24  Medicare rate, and that's a piece of this.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: And other
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          2  piece is to reimburse the hospitals for

          3  under-insured and uninsured --

          4                 MR. PAGE: Charity care.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Charity care.

          6                 MR. PAGE: Yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Mr. Page, the

          8  problem I have with that is, or what do I tell the

          9  people of Staten Island what share of that they're

         10  going to get?

         11                 Let me ask it this way. Of that

         12  nearly $600 million, how much of that is avaiable

         13  for use of the people of Staten Island?

         14                 MR. PAGE: You presumably know the

         15  answer to that better than I do, because I don't

         16  know how HHC's facilities --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: There is no

         18  facility on Staten Island.

         19                 MR. PAGE: I suspected that that's

         20  what you had in mind.

         21                 On the other hand, Staten Islanders

         22  do travel to other parts of the City and HHC does

         23  provide emergency facilities and other things.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Yes, but we

         25  both know that somebody on Staten Island will just
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          2  go to a local hospital instead of going into

          3  Bellevue or Coney Island, which by the time you got

          4  there you wouldn't be able to be treated for what

          5  you need to be treated. And the numbers of people

          6  who go to those hospitals are very, very low.

          7                 So, I guess my point is that somehow

          8  the Administration has to address the fact that none

          9  of this money goes to the people of Staten Island.

         10                 So, I have to go back to the people

         11  of Staten Island and say, all right, we added $600

         12  million to the budget for HHC, which allowed another

         13  draw-down of another $600 million, and not one penny

         14  of that comes to the people of Staten Island; what

         15  should I tell them?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Actually 1.2

         17  billion.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: 1.2 billion.

         19  Thanks for the help.

         20                 MR. PAGE: HHC obviously serves a

         21  large portion of New York City's population. They

         22  have the ability to make this claim. They are in

         23  difficult financial circumstances right now, and

         24  hopefully this will give them the slack to address

         25  how they're going to organize and run themselves to
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          2  the future with balanced expenses and revenues.

          3                 And you know, I can't speak

          4  specifically in terms of medical expenditures in

          5  Staten Island. I'm sure that if you look at what New

          6  York City spends in Medicaid and Medicare

          7  reimbursement for residents of Staten Island,

          8  there's probably some amount of money there, and

          9  other services, I don't know.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Well, I just

         11  urge you to consider that and take it back to the

         12  Administration that you're asking the members of the

         13  Staten Island Delegation to do a major budget action

         14  here that has actually no benefit to the people of

         15  Staten Island.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Are you finished,

         17  Council member?

         18                 Council Member Oddo, are you going to

         19  ask other than Staten Island Health and Hospitals

         20  share?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay. You're the

         23  last questioner.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: I can revisit

         25  that issue, if you want, Mr. Chair.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I don't want.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Oh, okay.

          4                 Mark, let me just start out by saying

          5  I commend the Administration for the trust fund,

          6  taking a billion dollars and putting it toward an

          7  obligation we have. Because, frankly, if left to

          8  their own devices, people in this City and people in

          9  this building would spend it on something else and

         10  we'd still be obligated to do the health for our

         11  retirees.

         12                 But I haven't been able to get my

         13  arms around this because I'm trying to do this as a

         14  schematic.

         15                 We have a situation where we spend a

         16  lot of money for health care benefits for our

         17  employees when they retire.

         18                 The cause is the fact that we have

         19  lots of employees that retire, and the cause is that

         20  we are very benevolent in the level of services,

         21  okay? And what we're saying is we have this

         22  obligation so we're going to take money and put it

         23  to a time in the future so we have this money.

         24                 But we're not getting to the

         25  underlying cause to this demand for money. Can you
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          2  update us on the Committee as to the efforts of the

          3  Administration to get to the cause which is the fact

          4  that we pay $800 million a year?

          5                 The Mayor talked about it in the

          6  State of the City, we talked about it when you came

          7  before the Committee the last time, is there any new

          8  information about this Administration working with

          9  its partners in Albany or on its own, working to

         10  cap, limit, reduce the amount of these expenditures?

         11                 Because right now, and I'm not

         12  equating buying shoes with providing health care for

         13  our employees, but if I know I have -- if my wife

         14  has an issue with buying shoes, and I know that so

         15  I'm going to put $100 in next month because I know

         16  she's going to buy shoes, it's not getting to the

         17  cause of the problem of her buying too many shoes.

         18                 So, how do we get to the cause of

         19  buying too many shoes? And what has the

         20  Administration done since you came before the

         21  Committee last to pursue the Mayor's comments in the

         22  State of the City that he was going to try and stop

         23  us from buying too many shoes?

         24                 MR. PAGE: I'm not sure that we've

         25  made a lot of progress in terms of containing the
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          2  costs of health care. I think that the Health and

          3  Hospitals Corporation, which a part of this mod

          4  provides for, is committed to reducing its health

          5  care, to make its operation more economical in the

          6  long run, and I think they've actually spent a lot

          7  of work on that. I think that this breathing room is

          8  important to them.

          9                 On the other hand, I think that they

         10  are very much committed to not sort of relaxing

         11  because they have the cash.

         12                 In terms of health benefits for

         13  employees and how to hold down the cost, I know that

         14  something that I have spent a fair amount of time on

         15  with various Deputy Mayors is the whole proposal to

         16  merge and take public HIP and GHI.

         17                 As you probably know, the City's

         18  health benefit for its current employees, the amount

         19  the City contributes per employee, is driven by the

         20  cost of the basic HIP HMO plan and if and when that

         21  merger and going public happens, we're very

         22  concerned that it not have the effect of drastically

         23  driving up the cost of that basica health service

         24  for City employees.

         25                 So, that's one angle that we've
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          2  actually spent a good deal of time and thought on.

          3  That's probably the one that I'm familiar with at

          4  this point.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: I know it's not

          6  your bailiwick per se, I know it's Mr. Hanley's

          7  bailiwick, but in terms of collective bargaining

          8  negotiations and upcoming collective bargaining, is

          9  this an issue that the Administration is prepared to

         10  put front and center in terms of its negotiating

         11  future contracts with municipal unions?

         12                 MR. PAGE: Well, in the way these

         13  things are done, obviously one part of the landscape

         14  in terms of going forward collective bargaining for

         15  New York City is the settlement that was proposed to

         16  the TWU, to the MTA, that didn't quite pass, but

         17  it's clearly out there as a public offer made, and

         18  as you I'm sure recall that proposed settlement

         19  actually required a co-payment of one and a half

         20  percent of salary for health benefits.

         21                 So, I think that that topic is in

         22  fact very much on the table looking forward in terms

         23  of the City's collective bargaining picture.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you, Mr.

         25  Oddo.
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          2                 Seeing no other urgent questions,

          3  thank you, Mr. Page. If you can just hang around

          4  until after the vote, please?

          5                 MR. PAGE: Thank you very much.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I'm briefly going

          7  to call up know Elizabeth Lynam from the Citizens'

          8  Budget Commission, who I understand is going to

          9  submit her testimony. But if anybody wants to have

         10  an urgent question to ask her, I will allow you to

         11  ask a question.

         12                 Do you want to submit the testimony,

         13  Ms. Lynam?

         14                 MS. LYNAM: Yes. I'm Elizabeth Lynam

         15  submitting testimony at the request of the

         16  Committee.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you. You

         18  get extra credit, too.

         19                 If members could please stay, we're

         20  going to need a vote.

         21                 Okay, we're going to couple the

         22  following items: Preconsidered Intro on the

         23  submission of the Executive Budget timetable. The

         24  budget modifications, MN 5 and MN 6.

         25                 Call the roll on all three items.
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          2                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member Weprin.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Aye on all.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK: Reyna.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Aye on all.

          6                 And I wanted to just remind the Chair

          7  that Mr. Page is supposed to be contacting you

          8  and/or I, concerning the piece under HPD.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: You'll be

         10  contacting us, Mr. Page?

         11                 MR. PAGE: Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Both of us. And

         15  he's going to submit a memo on the Delaware Trust

         16  issue.

         17                 COUNCIL CLERK: Brewer.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I vote aye and

         19  look forward to the same amount of discussion

         20  regarding DoITT and the emergency preparedness

         21  project. Thank you.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK: Comrie.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Aye on all.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK: Fidler.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Aye on all.
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          2                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gennaro.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Aye.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gioia.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK: Jackson.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Aye on all.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK: Koppell.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: With respect

         10  to the Delaware Trust --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Would you like to

         12  explain your vote?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Yes, please.

         14                 I hesitate to do this, because it

         15  means I'm going to have to read it, but I would

         16  suggest the Committee get a copy of the trust

         17  agreement. I would be interested in reading a copy

         18  of it.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay. I'll make

         20  sure every member of the Finance Committee gets a

         21  copy of the trust agreement.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: It's pretty

         23  long, I'm sure, so a lot of printing. But anyway,

         24  anyone who asks for it should be able to get it. I

         25  would be interested in seeing it.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And I have

          4  the reservations that our colleague, Council Member

          5  Fidler, raised with respect to both the choice of

          6  the bank and the residents of the funds. But we'll

          7  look at the whole thing. And I withdraw my request

          8  and vote aye on all.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK: McMahon.

         11                 (No response.)

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK: Sears.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Aye.

         14                 COUNCIL CLERK: Vallone.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I also had

         16  questions regarding the trust and the fact that the

         17  City is the sole trustee. As a former attorney, I

         18  used to recommend that that never happen. I deferred

         19  those questions at the urging of the Chair, and I

         20  explained that I was not at all thrilled that some

         21  Council members got ten, 15 minutes while others

         22  were told for the good of the Council to not ask

         23  questions, but hopefully that will be rectified down

         24  the road.

         25                 But I do have deferred questions, and
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          2  I will be looking forward to seeing this document

          3  that you will be obtaining, and for now I'm voting

          4  aye.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you,

          6  Council member.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK: Vann.

          8                 (No response.)

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK: Yassky.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Aye.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gentile.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Aye.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gallagher.

         14                 (No response.)

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK: Oddo.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Pass.

         17                 COUNCIL CLERK: DeBlasio.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Aye.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK: McMahon.

         20                 (No response.)

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK: Oddo.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: (Not using

         23  microphone.)

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of 15 in the

         25  affirmative, zero in the negative and two
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          2  abstentions. All items are adopted.

          3                 Please sign the Committee report.

          4  Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I'm going to

          6  leave the roll open for those members that are in or

          7  around the building.

          8                 Other than that, we're going to be

          9  adjourned. Please sign the Committee report.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member

         11  Gallagher.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: Aye.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK: The new vote now

         14  stands at 16 in the affirmative, zero in the

         15  negative and two abstentions. Thank you.

         16                 (The following written testimony was

         17  read into the record.)

         18

         19

         20  Written Testimony Of:

         21  Elizabeth Lynam

         22  Deputy Research Director

         23  Citizens Budget Commission

         24

         25                 Good morning and thank you for the
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          2  opportunity to testify. I am Elizabeth Lynam, Deputy

          3  Research Director at the Citizens Budget Commission.

          4  The Citizens Budget Commission is a nonpartisan,

          5  nonprofit civic organization that since 1932 has

          6  been devoted to influencing constructive change in

          7  the finances and services of New York City and New

          8  York State government.

          9                 I have a few brief comments to share

         10  with you today on the formation of the proposed

         11  health insurance trust fund. And, of course, I am

         12  happy to take questions after my remarks.

         13                 Let me start by saying that the

         14  Commission strongly supports the formation of a

         15  health insurance trust fund.

         16                 The City's current policy of paying

         17  the full cost of comprehensive health insurance for

         18  retired workers and their dependents creates an

         19  enormous future fiscal obligation. Until recently

         20  there has been no requirement to estimate or report

         21  the magnitude of that liability, and the City and

         22  other pubic employers have not done so.

         23                 However, recent changes in generally

         24  accepted accounting principles will require that the

         25  City estimate the size of this liability, and
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          2  preliminary estimates suggest it may be as high as

          3  $50 billion in total and $4-5 billion annually, if

          4  converted to an actuarially-funded system. Although

          5  there is no requirement to fund this liability,

          6  neglecting to do so may adversely affect the City's

          7  credit rating and standing in public credit markets.

          8                 The proposal to establish a health

          9  insurance trust fund and to deposit approximately $3

         10  billion in that fund this year and next will

         11  significantly improve the situation.

         12                 The proposed deposits exceed the cash

         13  liability by about $1 billion, leaving the City in

         14  two years with $2 billion in added resources to help

         15  finance future obligations at the end of fiscal year

         16  2007.

         17                 That would be a meaningful

         18  contribution to dealing with a difficult long-run

         19  problem. As such, this fund is potentially a strong

         20  tool for fiscal responsibility.

         21                 However, its strength will be

         22  determined by three factors:

         23                 - First, deposits into this fund need

         24  to be irrevocable; there should be no potential to

         25  divert them to other purposes in the future.
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          2                 - Second, the Fund's transactions and

          3  condition need to be transparent. Since the Fund

          4  will be an off-budget entity maintained with

          5  deposits from the general fund, there should be

          6  consistent, comprehensive and clear reporting of its

          7  activities to ensure transparency and

          8  accountability.

          9                 - Third, deposits should continue

         10  beyond the first two years. The City should commit

         11  to a long-term funding policy for retiree health

         12  insurance benefits, and should appropriate funds in

         13  each future year in accord with a predetermined

         14  schedule in order to reduce its unfunded liabilities

         15  for this purpose.

         16                 The proposed Health Insurance Trust

         17  Fund also is important and promising because it

         18  helps highlight the large and rising costs

         19  associated with the current policy of paying the

         20  full costs of health insurance for retirees and

         21  their dependents.

         22                 As the CBC documented in its recent

         23  report, The Case for Redesigning Retirement Benefits

         24  for New York's Public Employees, this policy is

         25  unusual and unnecessarily generous relative to other
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          2  large employers.

          3                 In the ongoing negotiations with

          4  municipal employee unions City leaders should give

          5  priority to changes that will reduce the future cost

          6  of retiree health insurance, such as requiring some

          7  employee and retiree contribution towards premium

          8  costs.

          9                 Creating a health insurance trust

         10  fund this year by seizing the opportunity presented

         11  by the City's large surpluses represents an

         12  important first step toward beginning to deal

         13  prudently and will start the city on a course toward

         14  permanently accounting for - in a separate and

         15  discrete fund - a cost that heretofore has been less

         16  than transparent.

         17                 The $2 billion, although a drop in

         18  the bucket against a $50 billion liability, will

         19  surely be regarded by bond-raters and credit markets

         20  - to name just a couple of entities following the

         21  impact of GASB 45 closely - as a proactive and

         22  more-than-timely initial response.

         23                 The Citizens Budget Commission urges

         24  the Council to work cooperatively with the Mayor to

         25  establish the trust and to fund it at at least the
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          2  level proposed in the preliminary plan.

          3                 In closing let me thank you again for

          4  the opportunity to testify before you today.

          5                 (Hearing concluded at 1:55 p.m.)
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          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter, do hereby certify that the

         11  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         12  within proceeding.

         13                 I further certify that I am not

         14  related to any of the parties to this action by

         15  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         16  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         17                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         18  set my hand this 5th day of April 2006.
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